No. S273887

# In the Supreme Court

of the

## State of California

MICHELLE HIMES

Plaintiff-Petitioner,

VS.

SOMATICS, LLC,

Defendant-Opposing Party.

On Request from the US Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit For Answer to Certified Questions of California Law

#### **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

Bijan Esfandiari
Monique Alarcon
R. Brent Wisner
BAUM, HEDLUND, ARISTEI & GOLDMAN, PC
10940 Wilshire Blvd., Suite 1600
Los Angeles, CA 90024
(310) 207-3233
besfandiari@baumhedlundlaw.com
malarcon@baumhedlundlaw.com
rbwisner@baumhedlundlaw.com

Counsel for Plaintiff-Petitioner

##

#### **INTRODUCTION**

The underlying issue to be addressed in this case is whether

California law continues to respect patient self-decision and autonomy; or

have we come to a point where the law holds the ultimate consent of the

patient to be *irrelevant* and the only thing that matters is a doctor's decision

to administer a risky procedure to a patient (without regard to the patient's

ultimate consent). Respondent contends that California law has

deteriorated to such a point. Petitioner, Michelle Himes, on the other hand,

contends that California continues to revere and respect patient autonomy

and informed consent, and deems it a vital foundation and a cornerstone of our Constitution, common law, statutory law, and medical and jurisprudential cannons. This continuing reverence of patient autonomy and consent should be reflected in the Court's answer to the certified question.

The certified question concerns the interplay between the learned intermediary defense and a plaintiff's causation burden in medical device products liability failure to warn claims. In answering the question, and consistent with the language from this Court's prior precedents, this Court should conclude that, when a device manufacturer *fails* to warn the intermediary, then (a) the manufacturer loses the protections afforded by the learned intermediary defense; (b) the manufacturer may not point to any conduct of the doctor to absolve itself of its own negligence; and (c) an injured plaintiff may meet her causation burden by establishing that, had she been warned of the true risks of the device by her doctor or the manufacturer, she would not have consented to the medical procedure.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## I. Procedural History

This products liability and putative class action was initiated in the

United States District Court for the Central District of California on September 11, 2017, by Michell Himes ("Himes") and other injured plaintiffs who sustained brain damage, permanent cognitive impairment, and permanent memory loss caused by electroshock therapy (ECT). 5-ER-1191. Himes and the other plaintiffs alleged the manufacturer of the ECT device, defendant Somatics, LLC ("Somatics"), failed to provide adequate warnings to doctors and the public concerning the risks of permanent memory loss and further alleged Somatics' device was misbranded due to its failure to comply with applicable federal law governing medical devices. 5-ER-1210-6-ER-1213.

The claims of *two* of the plaintiffs were settled on the eve of trial (6-ER-1235), and after a successful appeal as to statute of limitation issues (5-ER-1134), Himes and others filed an amended complaint that included, among others, causes of action for negligence (failure to warn); and strict liability (failure to warn). 5-ER-1103.

Somatics thereafter filed a motion for summary judgment arguing, in part, that the failure to warn claims of Himes and the other plaintiff, Marcia Benjamin ("Benjamin"), were barred by the learned intermediary doctrine.

5-ER-953. Plaintiffs filed an opposition (2-ER-160), and Somatics filed a

reply (2-ER-16) and responded to Plaintiffs' separate statement by largely agreeing with Plaintiffs' statement of facts (2-ER-28).

On May 14, 2021, the district court granted Somatics' summary judgment motion as to causation (learned intermediary doctrine). 1-ER-3. Himes and Benjamin appealed the dismissal to the United States Court of Appeals for Ninth Circuit. 6-ER-1217. On April 1, 2022, the Ninth Circuit issued an Order affirming the dismissal as to Benjamin, however, as to Himes, the Ninth Circuit determined there was no controlling state precedent as to the interplay between the learned intermediary doctrine and causation. Himes v. Somatics, LLC, 2022 WL 989469, at \*2-3 (9th Cir. Apr. 1, 2022). Specifically, the Ninth Circuit concluded that it was unclear if, to establish causation under California law, a plaintiff in a medical device failure to warn case can meet her proximate causation burden by establishing that, had the manufacturer warned her doctor, the doctor would have relayed the warnings to the plaintiff and, armed with the stronger warnings, plaintiff would not have consented to the procedure and thus would not have been injured; or must the plaintiff establish that, had the manufacturer warned her doctor, the doctor would not have prescribed and administered the procedure. Id.; see also Himes, 29 F.4th at 1126. The Ninth Circuit proceeded to issue an order certifying the following question to this Court:

Under California law, in a claim against a manufacturer of a medical product for a failure to warn of a risk, is the plaintiff required to show that a stronger risk warning would have altered the physician's decision to prescribe the product? Or may the plaintiff establish causation by showing that the physician would have communicated the stronger risk warnings to the plaintiff, either in their patient consent disclosures or otherwise, and a prudent person in the patient's position would have declined the treatment after receiving the stronger risk warning?

Himes, 29 F.4th at 1127. On June 15, 2022, this Court granted the Ninth Circuit's request for certification.

## II. Factual Summary

A. Electroshock Therapy ("ECT") Involves Running a Substantial Amount of Electricity through a Human Brain to Induce a Grand Mal Seizure

Electroshock or electroconvulsive therapy ("ECT") is the practice of inducing a grand mal seizure through application of electricity to the brain. 2-ER-29; 3-ER-443. In the late 1930's, after observing slaughterhouses apply electricity to pigs to render them "manageable" for slaughter, Ugo Cerletti and Lucino Bini, two scientists at the University of Rome, thought

electricity could be used to treat schizophrenia.<sup>1</sup> 2-ER-29; 4-ER-669-70. Cerletti and Bini began to test the theory by initially applying electricity to dogs, but most of the dogs died. 2-ER-29-30; 4-ER-669-70. Nonetheless, the scientists progressed to experimenting on humans. 2-ER-30; 4-ER-670. In April 1938, Cerletti and Bini applied ECT to the first human patient, a 40year-old man found wandering the Rome train station and speaking gibberish. 2-ER-30; 4-ER-670. They applied 70 volts of electricity to his temple and, while deliberating whether they should apply a second higher voltage, the patient pleaded "Non una seconda! Mortifera!" ("not again it will kill me!"). 2-ER-30; 4-ER-670. Notwithstanding the man's pleas, Cerletti applied a second and higher voltage (110 volts) of electricity. 4-ER-670. Thereafter, the patient was administered approximately a dozen more sessions of ECT but was subsequently lost to follow-up. 2-ER-30-31; 4-ER-671. In May 1938, Cerletti presented his experiment at the Medical

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The intentional creation of seizures was based on the mistaken belief that people with epilepsy did not suffer from schizophrenia. 4-ER-668. However, as medical experts and researchers have learned, "in spite of seven decades of clinical use of ECT for people with schizophrenia, there still is a lack of strong and adequate evidence regarding its effectiveness..." 5-ER-915. Likewise, to date, no mechanism of action by which ECT purportedly treats depression has been identified or proven. 3-ER-444.

Academy of Rome and, shortly thereafter, in the early 1940s, ECT began to gain acceptance for the treatment of schizophrenia (and eventually other psychiatric ailments). 2-ER-31; 4-ER-671.

Nearly a century later, ECT continues to be administered in the United States. To avoid patients violently jolting, jarring, and convulsing during the procedure, patients are now placed under anesthesia and administered muscle relaxants. 3-ER-446. But, while the use of anesthesia and muscle relaxants mask overt convulsions—like those shown in films such as *One Flew Over the Cuckoo's Nest*—the permanent side-effects of running electricity through the human brain remain the same, and in some cases, are exacerbated. 3-ER-446.

As Himes' electrical engineering expert, Kenneth R. Castleman, Ph.D., has explained, and Somatics has not disputed, the Somatics Thymatron IV ECT machine at issue in this case administers electric current to a patient's head that is roughly *one-fifth* as much current as the *electric chair* and applies voltage that is *four hundred* times what is required to damage brain cells. 2-ER-47; 3-ER-471-72.

B. Somatics Failed to Comply with FDA Regulations, Failed to Issue *Any* Timely Warnings to Himes' Doctor and Has Now Admitted (via Tardily Issued Warnings) That ECT Can Cause Brain Injury and Permanent Memory Loss

In the 1980s, Richard Abrams and Conrad Swartz formed Somatics for the purpose of selling their own ECT machines for profit. 2-ER-31; 3-ER-370. Normally, medical devices require advance FDA approval, however, Somatics *never* obtained FDA approval to market its ECT machine. 2-ER-32; 3-ER-438. Rather, relying on a statutory loophole that allows a medical device manufacturer simply to claim its device is equivalent to a device that was on the market prior to 1976, Somatics obtained clearance from the FDA to sell its "Thymatron" ECT device in 1984. 2-ER-32; 4-ER-675. The distinction between approval and clearance is critical—an FDA approved device is tested by human clinical trials to demonstrate safety and efficacy and the FDA usually spends 1,200 hours reviewing an application prior to approving a medical device. Medtronic, *Inc. v. Lohr*, 518 U.S. 470, 478 (1996); 2-ER-33-34. On the other hand, devices that obtain *clearance*, are usually cleared within a mere 20 hours. *Id.*<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In issuing the clearance letter to Somatics for its ECT machine, the FDA emphasized to Somatics that the FDA had *not* approved the device and that

Remarkably, the FDA has *never* approved *any* ECT device, and no ECT device manufacturer has ever conducted any clinical trials to prove they are safe and effective. Rather, safety and efficacy has been presumed because, well, ECT has been done for so long. In that regard, Somatics has *never* conducted any human clinical trials to determine if its Thymatron ECT device is safe and effective. 2-ER-32-33; 3-ER-372; 3-ER-429. When asked why Somatics has never conducted any studies or tests to analyze the long-term side effects associated with ECT, Somatics' founder and president, Dr. Abrams testified: "that's not our business." 3-ER-371.

Notwithstanding this not being their business, Somatics promoted its ECT device as "The most advanced ECT device technically and operationally, with demonstrated superior safety and clinical effectiveness." 2-

any representations by Somatics that its ECT device was FDA approved would be misleading and would constitute misbranding under federal law. 2-ER-34-35; 4-ER-674-675. Notwithstanding the FDA's admonitions, Somatics proceeded to *falsely* promote its device in its promotional literature and website as having received FDA "Approval." 2-ER-35-36; 4-ER-628, 680. Even in its 2018 Regulatory Update, Somatics falsely states that its "safety experience with the Thymatron ECT device since 1984 *when FDA approved the Somatics Thymatron ECT device for marketing* show that more than 4,300 Thymatron devices have been sold worldwide. During that time Somatics has maintained complete safety files on the Thymatron device ..." 4-ER-654, emphasis added.

ER-35; 3-ER-427-428; 4-ER-680 (emphasis added). Indeed, contrary to Somatics' claims of safety and efficacy, medical research reveals that ECT is of questionable efficacy and is associated with serious risks, including permanent memory loss. See 4-ER-878 ("There is no evidence that ECT is effective for its target demographic...or its target diagnostic group..."); 4-ER-912 (a large-scale prospective study of cognitive outcomes in 2007 found that months after ECT, autobiographical memory of patients were significantly worse and that 12% of ECT patients were deemed to have suffered "marked and persistent retrograde amnesia"). Eventually, Somatics had to remove its false claims of safety and efficacy from its promotional material and the FDA now requires manufacturers to warn that: "The long-term safety and effectiveness of ECT treatment has not been demonstrated." 21 C.F.R. § 882.5940 (emphasis added); 2-ER-36.

In addition to never having performed any safety and efficacy studies on its ECT devices, a January 2012 FDA inspection revealed that, during the relevant period, Somatics did not have appropriate procedures in place to identify, evaluate, and warn about adverse events in violation of applicable FDA regulations. 2-ER-36-37; 4-ER-691 (2012 FDA Report (Observations 3 & 4)); see also 21 C.F.R. §§ 803.17, 803.18, 803.50 & 820.198;

21 U.S.C. §§ 331 & 352(t). Indeed, between 1984 and 2017, Somatics *never* submitted a single adverse event report to the FDA. 2-ER-37; 4-ER-634; *see also* 4-ER-698. As the district court determined, even though Somatics became aware, or should have been aware, of *hundreds* of complaints and reports of brain injury, permanent retrograde amnesia, cognitive impairment, and death, Somatics never took any meaningful measures to investigate these complaints, submit adverse event reports to the FDA or warn physicians and consumers of these risks. 1-ER-4; 2-ER-13; *see also* 2-ER-37-38; 4-ER-632; 4-ER-698; 4-ER-713-714.

The manuals Somatics prepared for its ECT device and distributed to the hospital where Himes received her ECT treatments, *did not contain any warnings*. 3-ER-510 (manual given to Sharp Hospital - no warnings of any kind); *see also* 3-ER-387-390. In its ruling, the district court concluded Somatics had not provided *any* warnings to Himes' physician concerning the risk of brain injury or permanent memory loss. 1-ER-9.

Long before Himes' 2011 ECT procedures, Somatics and its owners were aware, or should have been aware, that ECT shock therapy could cause serious injuries, including permanent memory loss and brain damage to patients. 2-ER-39-45; *see also* ER 3-ER-446-451; 3-ER-456-462; 3-

ER-474; 4-ER-661; 4-ER-713-714; 5-ER-912-913; 5-ER-1137; 5-ER-1153 (prior Order).<sup>3</sup> Tellingly, one of the Somatics owners, Dr. Abrams, published a book in 2002 wherein he quoted an ECT expert who had written that "virtually all patients experience some degree of persistent and, likely permanent retrograde amnesia" and that "increasing evidence has accumulated that some degree of persistent memory loss [with ECT] is common." 2-ER-40; 4-ER-660. In the article Dr. Abrams quoted, the author further stated that "[i]t has also become clear that for rare patients the retrograde amnesia due to ECT can be profound, with the memory loss extending back years prior to receipt of treatment." 2-ER-40-41; 4-ER-856. In this same article, the author goes on to conclude that there is a need to "update what is communicated in the consent process and to monitor cognitive outcomes." 2-ER-42; 4-ER-862. Notwithstanding, in response to these findings and opinions, Dr. Abrams self-servingly concluded there is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As plaintiff's medical expert opined, the trauma suffered by the brain as a result of ECT is similar in its clinical effects to traumatic physical injury to the head and brain, though "ECT seems to produce an especially drastic impact upon personal memories of one's experiences in life, such as family celebrations, holidays, work accomplishments and educational experiences. For this reason, the harm caused by ECT is particularly destructive to personal identity." 3-ER-450.

no evidence to support the risk of cognitive deficits. 2-ER-42; 4-ER-661.

In the manuals and labeling Somatics provided with its ECT machine, Somatics never provided any warnings concerning the risks of permanent memory loss or brain damage. 1-ER-9; 3-ER-387-390; 3-ER-510 (manual given to Sharp Hospital). In 2006, in response to a fear of potential lawsuits because its ECT manual (i.e., the device label) did not contain any warnings (including any warnings concerning permanent memory loss), the two Somatics owners (Abrams and Swartz) contemplated adding warnings concerning permanent memory loss. 2-ER-44-45; 4-ER-874-876. However, as outlined in internal communications, the Somatics owners expressed concern that adding a warning about permanent memory loss would cause Somatics to lose customers (i.e., "alienate psychiatrists"). 2-ER-44-45; 4-ER-874. The two ultimately decided not to add a warning and instead merely added a disclaimer, which one of the Somatics owners contemporaneously admitted "is not a warning." 2-ER-45; 4-ER-874. Even this disclaimer was never timely given to the physicians or hospital where Himes received her ECT. 2-ER-45-46.

In 2009, the FDA announced it was opening a docket and inquiry to further look into the safety and efficacy of ECT given the devices had never

received FDA approval. *See* 74 Fed. Reg. 46607-01. By 2010, the FDA's public docket had received more than 3,000 notifications of ECT induced injury and, according to the FDA: "The most common type of adverse event reported in the public docket was *memory adverse event* (529 reports). This was followed by other *cognitive complaints* (413 reports), *brain damage* (298 reports) and *death* (103 reports)." 2-ER-46; 4-ER-713. While Somatics admitted that, as of 2010, it was aware of these adverse events, Somatics, in violation of 21 C.F.R. § 803.50(b)(3), took no steps to investigate the reports or issue warnings concerning these risks to plaintiffs' medical providers. 2-ER-47; 4-ER-643-44.

Given the foregoing undisputed evidence, the district court in the section of its summary judgment order outlining the "undisputed facts" made the following findings of fact:

Over the years, Somatics became aware, or should have been aware, of hundreds of complaints and reports of brain injury, permanent retrograde amnesia [and] cognitive impairment...associated with ECT. Somatics never investigated these complaints, nor did it submit adverse events to the FDA or warn physicians and consumers of these risks"

See 1-ER-4 (emphasis added). After making the above-mentioned finding of fact, the district court in its discussion section of the Order went on to

conclude that Somatics "did not provide any warnings to...Dr. Fidaleo concerning the risk of brain injury or permanent memory loss." 1-ER-9.

It was not until sometime in late 2018, *after* Somatics settled the claims of two brain injured plaintiffs (Deborah Chase and Jose Riera) in this action, and *after* the FDA concluded that Somatics needed to provide instructions and warnings concerning permanent cognitive injuries (*see* 21 C.F.R. § 882.5940), that Somatics began to implement warnings on its website and in its new user manuals, which stated: "ECT may result in anterograde or retrograde amnesia" (4-ER-653) and "in rare cases, patients may experience permanent memory loss or permanent brain damage." (4-ER-653); see also 2-ER-48; 3-ER-410-420; 4-ER-653; 4-ER-658.

Unfortunately, these warnings, which could and should have been issued decades earlier, came too late for Himes who is but one of the many victims of Somatics' negligence.

C. Had Somatics Warned about Brain Damage and Permanent Memory Loss, Himes' Doctor Would Have Altered His Conduct and Relayed Those Warnings to Himes; and Had Himes Been So Warned, She Would Have Refused ECT

Himes was 25 years old when she was administered ECT in April 2011 to attempt to treat her depression. 5-ER-949, 1001. The ECT was

prescribed and administered by her doctor, Raymond Fidaleo, M.D. at Sharp Mesa Vista Medical Center ("Sharp Hospital") in San Diego, California. 3-ER-325, 332. On April 13, 2011, prior to her first ECT session, Himes executed a "consent" form that was provided to her by Dr. Fidaleo. As Dr. Fidaleo admitted, the consent form did not warn Himes that ECT could cause permanent memory loss, brain damage, or negatively impact a patient's ability to formulate new memories. 3-ER-342-43, 502.4

Dr. Fidaleo never warned Himes of the risk of permanent memory loss and brain damage because Somatics had not provided any such warning to Dr. Fidaleo or Sharp Hospital, either in the manual that accompanied its Thymatron IV ECT device<sup>5</sup> or through any other available

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> As to cognitive risks, Dr. Fidaleo and the consent documents only informed Himes that the side effects of ECT included some confusion right after treatment and *short-term* memory loss. 3-ER-312-13.

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