#### No. S273887

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

MICHELLE HIMES,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

SOMATICS, LLC,

Defendant-Respondent.

On Request from the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit for Answer to Certified Questions of California Law

## RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Jason A. Benkner (SB # 286790)
David S. Poole (SB # 94690)
POOLE & SHAFFERY & KOEGLE, LLP
25350 Magic Mountain Pkwy
Suite 250
Santa Clarita, CA 91355
(661) 290-2991
jbenkner@pooleshaffery.com
dpoole@pooleshaffery.com

Jonathan M. Freiman WIGGIN AND DANA LLP 265 Church Street New Haven, CT 06510 (203) 498-4400 jfreiman@wiggin.com Pro Hac Vice

Attorneys for Defendant–Respondent SOMATICS, LLC

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should hold that, under the learned intermediary doctrine, a plaintiff bringing a failure-to-warn claim against a medical manufacturer must

prove that a stronger warning would have altered her physician's prescription decision.

All failure-to-warn claims, whether brought under a negligence or strict liability theory, require a plaintiff to prove causation. The plaintiff must establish that a manufacturer breached its duty to provide an adequate warning, that the plaintiff sustained an injury, and that "the absence of a warning caused the plaintiff's injury." Webb v. Special Elec. Co., 63 Cal. 4th 167, 181 (2016); see Merrill v. Navegar, Inc., 26 Cal. 4th 465, 477 (2001) ("[P]laintiff's must show that [defendants] owed them a legal duty, that [defendants] breached the duty, and that the breach was a proximate or legal cause of their injuries.").

Where failure-to-warn claims involve "drugs or medical devices . . . supplied in the context of the doctor-patient relationship," California's "learned intermediary doctrine" controls how plaintiffs must satisfy the elements of their claims. Webb, 63 Cal. 4th. at 187 n.10. The doctrine recognizes that a patient relies on the judgment of an intermediary—a physician—in deciding whether to use a prescription-only product, as the physician has the scientific expertise necessary to determine whether the treatment benefits outweigh risks. Carlin, 13 Cal. 4th at 1116. Specialized training and experience enable the physician to help the patient understand when risks are too small to alter the treatment decision, even where the patient is fearful of the risks and

otherwise inclined to "object" to treatment. *Plenger v. Alza Corp.*, 11 Cal. App. 4th 349, 362 n.6 (1992). Accordingly, courts applying California law have repeatedly held that plaintiffs cannot establish causation without evidence that, had their physicians received stronger warnings, the "physicians would have altered their *decision to prescribe*." *Guillen v. Eli Lilly & Co.*, 394 F. App'x 814, 816 (2d Cir. 2010) (applying California law).

Plaintiff spends most of her brief avoiding the question this Court agreed to answer. Instead, she argues that if she establishes warning inadequacy, she doesn't have to establish causation under the learned intermediary doctrine. This Court need not address that issue but, if it does, it should reject Plaintiff's argument for the same reasons as the Ninth Circuit: it makes no sense, ignores longstanding precedent, and would gut the doctrine. *See infra* Section I.

Plaintiff also briefly argues that she can prove causation through her physicians-as-messengers theory. Courts applying California law have repeatedly rejected this theory because it ignores the learned intermediary doctrine's central premise: that a scientifically-trained specialist, not a layperson, is best positioned to interpret the implications of technical manufacturer warnings. The doctrine recognizes that, hearing of any serious risk, a patient may initially blanch at receiving treatment. But a learned intermediary then steps in to help the patient understand where a treatment's benefits outweigh the risk. Plaintiff's theory baselessly presumes that Dr.

Fidaleo would *not* have performed that intermediary role, and would instead have acted only as a messenger, relaying the warning to her for her unlearned unilateral assessment as a layperson. Her arguments demean the value of medical expertise, ignore the realities of physician-patient interactions, and seek a dangerous expansion of manufacturer liability. *See infra* Section II.

Plaintiff also cannot establish causation through her physicians-asmessengers theory because her physician admitted that he didn't even read
Somatics's purportedly-inadequate disclosures. Had Somatics included
stronger warnings in those disclosures, Dr. Fidaleo wouldn't even have been
aware of them such that he could relay them to Plaintiff. Although the certified
question doesn't address this issue, Somatics respectfully requests that the
Court exercise its discretion to consider it and confirm that, as a matter of
California law, where a physician fails to read a manufacturer's disclosures,
the absence of adequate warnings in those disclosures cannot be the cause of
the plaintiff's injuries. See infra Section III.

Finally, Plaintiff argues that, if this Court endorses her physicians-asmessengers theory, then the Court should also review another question it
didn't agree to answer: whether the Ninth Circuit erred in determining that a
plaintiff cannot establish causation through *subjective* hindsight-influenced
testimony. This Court needn't review that question but, if it does, it should

apply its precedent rejecting her proposed subjective standard. See infra Section IV.

## **ARGUMENT**

# I. Plaintiff must prove causation under the learned intermediary doctrine.

Plaintiff's claims plainly trigger California's "learned intermediary doctrine," which "applies when drugs or medical devices are supplied in the context of the doctor-patient relationship." Webb, 63 Cal. 4th at 187 n.10. At the heart of the learned intermediary doctrine is an acknowledgement of the value of scientific training. The doctrine recognizes that patients properly rely on physicians' judgments in deciding whether to use prescription-only medical products. That's why a manufacturer's "duty to warn runs to the physician, not to the patient." Carlin., 13 Cal. 4th at 1116. A "patient's expectations regarding the effects of [a prescribed product] are those related to him by his physician," id., as the physician "in reality stands in the shoes of the ordinary consumer," Plenger, 11 Cal. App. 4th at 362 n.6.

Throughout, Plaintiff improperly describes this as the "learned intermediary defense," rather than the "learned intermediary doctrine." But it's not a defense: it's a doctrine that describes what a plaintiff must prove to succeed in failure-to-warn claims involving a prescription product. Plaintiff also describes the doctrine as "outdated," citing a West Virginia Supreme Court

decision. OB28. The case Plaintiff cites is no longer good law even in West Virginia. See W.Va. Code § 55-7-30 (2016) (overruling decision and adopting learned intermediary doctrine). Today, the learned intermediary doctrine applies in all fifty states, as well as D.C. and Puerto Rico.<sup>5</sup>

Plaintiff's primary argument is that the entire doctrine, and particularly its causation requirement, shouldn't apply to her claim if she offers evidence of warning inadequacy. That argument contravenes this Court's precedent requiring causation evidence, *see infra* Section I(A), and Plaintiff fails to identify any contrary authority, *see infra* Section I(B).

## A. California precedent confirms Plaintiff's causation burden.

The Ninth Circuit already rejected Plaintiff's "argument that the learned intermediary doctrine does not apply whenever the manufacturer has not provided sufficient warnings to a physician." *Himes*, 2022 WL 989469, at \*1. The reason was simple:

Under California law, when drugs or medical devices are supplied in the context of the physician-patient relationship, the learned intermediary doctrine applies. . . . [E]ven when warnings are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See Guevara v. Dorsey Labs., 845 F.2d 364, 366 (1st Cir. 1988) (applying doctrine under Puerto Rico law); Tyree v. Bos. Sci. Corp., 56 F. Supp. 3d 826, 829 n.3 (S.D.W. Va. 2014) (listing cases applying doctrine in D.C. and all states except West Virginia, New Mexico, and Vermont); W.Va. Code § 55-7-30 (2016) (adopting doctrine in West Virginia); Silva v. Smithkline Beecham Corp., 2013 WL 4516160, at \*3-4 (N.M. Ct. App. Feb. 7, 2013) (applying doctrine in New Mexico); Leavitt v. Ethicon, Inc., 524 F. Supp. 3d 360, 368-69 (D. Vt. 2021) (predicting adoption of doctrine in Vermont).

assumed to be deficient, in the context of prescription products, the analysis always relies on the impact of a hypothetical stronger warning on the physician. After all, because the adequacy of warnings is always challenged in failure-to-warn claims, if the learned intermediary doctrine became inapplicable when a plaintiff alleged that warnings were inadequate, the doctrine would never operate in California.

Id. The Ninth Circuit has consistently held that, under the doctrine, a plaintiff "must prove not only that no warning was provided or the warning was inadequate, but also that the inadequacy or absence of the warning caused the plaintiff's injury." Wendell v. GlaxoSmithKline LLC, 858 F.3d 1227, 1238 (9th Cir. 2017); see Motus v. Pfizer Inc. (Roerig Div.), 358 F.3d 659, 661 (9th Cir. 2004) ("Motus II") ("the adequacy of [the manufacturer's] warnings is irrelevant" where "stronger warnings would not have altered the conduct of the prescribing physician"); Latiolais v. Merck & Co., 302 F. App'x 756, 757 (9th Cir. 2008) (plaintiff must prove "causation under California's 'learned intermediary' doctrine"). Other appellate courts applying California law

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Accord, e.g., Munoz v. Am. Med. Sys., Inc., 2021 WL 1200038, at \*2 (C.D. Cal. Mar. 30, 2021) ("Where the learned intermediary doctrine applies, the plaintiff must prove that: (1) no warning was provided or the warning was inadequate, and (2) the inadequate warning was the proximate cause of her injury."); Rodman v. Otsuka Am. Pharm., Inc., 564 F. Supp. 3d 879, 891-93 (N.D. Cal. 2020), aff'd, 2021 WL 5850914 (9th Cir. Dec. 9, 2021); Renteria v. Ethicon, Inc., 2020 WL 7414744, at \*7 (C.D. Cal. Nov. 18, 2020); Shahbaz v. Johnson & Johnson, 2020 WL 5894590, at \*12-14 (C.D. Cal. July 31, 2020); Fischer v. Bos. Sci. Corp., 2020 WL 2300138, at \*2 (C.D. Cal. Mar. 25, 2020); Galinis v. Bayer Corp., 2019 WL 2716480, at \*9 (N.D. Cal. June 28, 2019); Andren v. Alere, Inc.,

agree. See, e.g., Gaghan v. Hoffman-La Roche Inc., 2014 WL 3798338, at \*13-14 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. Aug. 4, 2014); Guillen, 394 F. App'x at 816; Neal v. Eli Lilly & Co., 394 F. App'x 823, 824-25 (2d Cir. 2010); Misouria v. Eli Lilly & Co., 394 F. App'x 825, 826-27 (2d Cir. 2010).

That consistent analysis aligns with the precedent of this Court, which has long held that a causation requirement applies in *all* failure-to-warn claims, not just failure-to-warn claims involving medical manufacturers. *See Ramos v. Brenntag Specialties, Inc.*, 63 Cal. 4th 500, 509 (2016) (plaintiffs must establish "that defendants breached a duty to provide adequate warnings . . . *and* that such failure to warn caused plaintiffs' injury"). Indeed, Plaintiff's argument runs head-on into a core principle of *any* negligence or strict liability claim, not just one sounding in warning inadequacy: "[A]n essential element of a plaintiff's cause of action, whether based on negligence or strict liability, is the existence of a causal connection between defendant's act and the injury which plaintiff suffered." *Smith v. Lockheed Propulsion Co.*, 247 Cal. App. 2d 774, 780 (1967). While the learned intermediary doctrine clarifies how the

<sup>2018</sup> WL 1920179, at \*4 (S.D. Cal. Apr. 24, 2018); *Tucker v. Wright Med. Tech.*, *Inc.*, 2013 WL 1149717, at \*15-16 (N.D. Cal. Mar. 19, 2013).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Accord Huitt v. S. California Gas Co., 188 Cal. App. 4th 1586, 1604 (2010); Torres v. Xomox Corp., 49 Cal. App. 4th 1, 16 (1996).

causal connection requirement works for failure-to-warn claims against the manufacturer of a prescription product, the doctrine simply applies the centuries-old principle that the defendant's breach of its duty of care must produce the plaintiff's injury.<sup>8</sup> That's how widely Plaintiff asks this Court to deviate from established precedent: She asks the Court to uniquely excuse her from a requirement facing every other tort plaintiff. No California authority entitles her to that radical exemption.

Indeed, this Court has already confirmed that, specifically in the context of failure-to-warn claims against medical manufacturers, plaintiffs must prove not only inadequate warning but also causation. Carlin v. Superior Court held that, even where a manufacturer inadequately warns of a risk, the manufacturer is not liable if the medical community already knows of the risk. 13 Cal. 4th at 1116. After all, if a physician already knows of the risk and nevertheless prescribes, then the warning's inadequacy didn't cause the physician to prescribe. See Guevara, 845 F.2d at 367 ("[I]f the doctor knew of the danger already, the failure to warn could not have been the cause of the injury."). Similarly, Ramirez v. Plough, Inc. held that failure-to-warn claims against medical manufacturers can't survive summary judgment without a

<sup>8</sup> See Chidester v. Consol. People's Ditch Co., 53 Cal. 56, 57 (1878) ("The law is well settled that in actions for negligence the damages to be recovered are only those of which the negligent act is the proximate cause.").

"causal connection between the representations or omissions that accompanied the product and plaintiff's injury." 6 Cal. 4th 539, 555-56 (1993). Ramirez found "no conceivable causal connection" where a drug was administered by someone who didn't read the label. Id.

Plaintiff makes no effort to distinguish California cases confirming that, under the learned intermediary doctrine, "claims about the failure to warn" have a "causation element" and thus a plaintiff's claim fails where "any failure by [the manufacturer] to inform [the physician] could not have caused [the plaintiff any harm." Gall v. Smith & Nephew, Inc., 71 Cal. App. 5th 117, 122, 124-125 (2021) (finding no triable issue on causation where the physician testified that a stronger warning wouldn't have "changed his thinking or decision making"); see Plenger, 11 Cal. App. 4th at 362 (acknowledging situations where a manufacturer fails to adequately warn of a risk and yet "the failure to warn the physician of that risk cannot be the legal cause of" the plaintiff's injuries; finding no causation where a physician was already aware of the undisclosed risk and prescribed anyway); see also Conte v. Wyeth, Inc., 168 Cal. App. 4th 89, 96, 98-100 (2008) (confirming a plaintiff must prove "that [the manufacturer's] product information was a causal factor in [the physician's decision to treat [the plaintiff] with [the product]"; stating that a physician's declaration that he didn't rely on a manufacturer's purportedinadequate product information, if uncontradicted, would prevent the plaintiff from "establish[ing] causation").9

Plaintiff asserts that the learned intermediary doctrine can't apply where warnings are inadequate because then intermediaries are "no longer 'learned." OB31. But the word "learned" in "learned intermediary doctrine" doesn't refer to the physician's knowledge of a particular manufacturer-provided warning. It refers to the physician's medical training. See Plenger, 11 Cal. App. 4th at 362 n.6.

Tort liability in California, as in all states, requires that a plaintiff prove not only that a defendant committed a wrongful act but also that this wrongful act caused the plaintiff's injury. Where a plaintiff claims that a medical manufacturer breached its duty to adequately warn her physician, the plaintiff must prove a causal relationship between the inadequacy of the warning and her injury.

B. Plaintiff mischaracterizes California law in arguing that, as long as she has offered evidence of inadequate warnings, she needn't also offer evidence of causation.

Plaintiff's effort to avoid her causation burden relies substantially on Love v. Wolf, 226 Cal. App. 2d 378 (1964), along with three later decisions

24

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> *Conte* found a triable issue on causation *only* because the physician contradicted his declaration by testifying that he "probably" did rely on the product information. *Id.* at 99.

quoting or agreeing with Love, OB29-30 (citing Brown v. Superior Ct., 44 Cal. 3d 1049 (1988); Stevens v. Parke, Davis & Co., 9 Cal. 3d 51 (1973); and Carmichael v. Reitz, 17 Cal. App. 3d 958 (1971)). Plaintiff quotes passages from these cases that articulate the unsurprising proposition that, if a manufacturer gives adequate warnings, it can't be held liable under the learned intermediary doctrine. But this proposition comports perfectly with California precedent establishing that summary judgment is appropriate where the plaintiff fails to show either inadequate warning or causation. None of these cases states that a plaintiff's failure to establish inadequate warning is the only way a manufacturer may be entitled to protection under the doctrine, or otherwise calls into question cases holding that a plaintiff must also show causation.

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